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Dear Lisa,

Proposed Merger of National Grid Group plc and Lattice Group plc to create National Grid Transco plc

Innogy believes the proposed merger of National Grid Group plc (NGC) and Lattice Group plc (Lattice) to create National Grid Transco plc is a logical step reflecting the general convergence of the electricity and gas industries in the UK.  

However, our support of the merger is qualified to the extent that, without modification, we believe there will be competition concerns arising from the coalescing of existing System Operator (SO) activities and roles.

Ofgem’s consultation paper provides preliminary consideration of some regulatory issues that may arise if the proposed transaction is allowed to proceed.  In the light of the competition issues arising from the combined SO activities, we believe such consideration would normally be a sine qua non.  However, both electricity and gas SO functions are undergoing redefinition and amendment and thus precise consideration is contingent upon these developments.  At this stage a broader indication of Ofgem’s intent would have been reassuring and we have included in our response some suggestions as to what we consider to be the requisite regulatory response.

We found your paper’s format helpful when considering the issues with this merger and our response has adopted a similar structure.

Details of the parties

Using the details in Ofgem’s Section 4 we can usefully lay out the elements of each party to develop our approach to the combined entity, namely:




NGC




Lattice
Transmission/Transportation Owner (TO)

1. 

Electricity Transmission


Gas Transportation & Distribution

2. 

Interconnectors



Interconnectors
3. Connections

4. Metering

System Operator (SO)

5. 

Balancing Services


Balancing Services

Other Activities
6.  

Gas Trading

7. 






LNG Storage

8.  






Electricity Generation

9.

Overseas Interests

Competition Issues

TO

We agree with Ofgem’s initial view that, in the context of the TO roles above, NGC and Lattice (via Transco) are not in direct competition with each other given that the networks deliver substantially different products.

SO

In terms of the SO roles we are concerned that competition issues could emerge given the scope each SO has been allowed in their respective markets.  The SO roles were designed when NGC and Transco were independent and required a different role with greater influence than otherwise.  It may be that their roles included an element of smoothing the transition to NGTA and NETA respectively.  If NGC’s and Lattice’s independence from each other no longer exists and now that the transition to NGTA and NETA has been successfully effected, some elements of their activities should be limited or curtailed completely.

With the advent of one-hour Gate Closure, NGC has indicated that they will be seeking to secure Pre-Gate Closure Balancing Transactions (PGBs).  The indications on the gas side are that similar requirements will be necessary for Transco.  Innogy has consistently argued that such activities will foreclose prompt markets, inhibit product development and frustrate efficient market operation and development.  

The scale of the individual SO roles should recognise the greater overview NGT will have and therefore the reduced need for such trading activity in either the electricity or gas markets.  Ofgem recognise that the improved lines of communication between the individual SOs will be a positive development and enhance the efficient, effective and secure operation of the two networks.  We agree with this assertion but, to maximise the benefits of NGT’s information advantage, NGT should concentrate on system operation and not be allowed to affect prompt market operation to the detriment of other players.

Other Activities

In the parties’ details above we have italicised those elements of NGT that we feel are not pre-requisites for the efficient and effective performance of its TO and SO roles within the gas and electricity markets.  The precedents lie in electricity where NGC have no direct involvement in distribution connections, metering and generation activities.  We understand that a gas SO might seek contracts with LNG Storage but we see no need for asset ownership.  However, we see these as desirable developments and not essential.

With respect to NGC’s operation of the gas OCM through EnMO, we understand that they are seeking to divest their share in EnMO and this is to be encouraged.  If the sale of NGC’s equity is not possible in the short-term, the current ring-fencing arrangements retaining market information with EnMO should be observed and perhaps reinforced.

Security of Supply

We believe that the existing ring-fencing provisions should be sufficient to maintain security of supply and simply need amending to recognise the creation of NGT and the respective TO and SO roles within that entity.

Regulatory Issues

We are less concerned with the timing for revisiting TO and SO price controls than with the possibility of drawing up TO & SO roles and licensing structures across the electricity and gas markets.  These should not simply merge existing details but recognise the combined entity and modify these roles and licences accordingly.

A single TO licensing regime may not be dissimilar from existing requirements.  A single SO licensing regime should reflect the advantages of the proposed merger and reduce the scale and scope of activities.  Our belief is that limiting NGT’s trading activities is the most important element of this re-definition.

If you wish to discuss any of the above please do not hesitate to contact me.

Yours sincerely,

Laurence Poel

Head of Economic Regulation

Registered office:  Innogy plc, Windmill Hill Business Park, Whitehill Way, Swindon, SN5 6PB

Registered in England and Wales no:  3892782
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